STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

S.C. Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS
Appeal From Edgefield County
The Honorable William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge

JUL 9 - 6 2015

RECEIVED

Opinion No. 2015-UP-174 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 1, 2015)

Appellate Case No. 2015-001342

Tommy S. Adams, Respondent,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, Petitioner.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WALT WHITMIRE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 100794

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Did the intermediate appellate court err in reversing the PCR Judge in holding counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the admission of Adams' statement to police because it was improper character evidence?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Adams was indicted at the September 2003, term of the Edgefield County Grand Jury for Lewd Act on a Child Under Sixteen (2003-GS-19-0416), and Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor, First-Degree (2003-GS-19-0418). (App. p.19). James B. Huff, Esq., represented him. (App. p.1-175). On October 12-14, 2005, Adams proceeded to trial and was found guilty as indicted. (App. p.1-174). The Honorable John C. Few sentenced him to confinement for fifteen (15) years for the Lewd Act on a Child Under Sixteen and thirty (30) years for Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor—1st Degree. The sentences were ordered to be served consecutively. (App. p.173, lines15-25). Adams filed a Motion for a New Trial on or about June 23, 2006. (App. p.176-182). Judge Few issued an Order denying Adams's Motion for a New Trial on July 10, 2006. (App. p.183).

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed and perfected of Adams' behalf. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence. State v. Adams, Op. No. 2006-UP-560 (S.C. Ct. App. filed October 10, 2008). (App. p.199). The Remittitur was sent on October 18, 2008.

On February 23, 2009, Adams filed an Application for Post-Conviction Relief. (App. p.200-219). The State filed its Return on July 7, 2009. (App. p.222-226). An evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on December 2, 2010 at the Lexington County Courthouse. (App. p.260-390). Adams was present at the hearing and was represented by Teresa Norris, Esq. The Respondent was represented by A. West Lee, Esq., of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office. The Honorable William P. Keesley denied and dismissed Adams' Application for PCR by Order dated September

12, 2011. (App. p.441-464).

After a petition for writ of certiorari and return to petition for certiorari were filed, the case was transferred to the South Carolina Court of Appeals. The court of appeals granted the petition for writ of certiorari by order filed July 1, 2013. After oral argument, the court of appeals reversed the PCR judge's denial of relief on April 1, 2015. Adams v. State, Op. No. 2015-UP-174 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 1, 2015). Petitioner filed a timely Petition for Rehearing, which the court of appeals denied by order filed May 21, 2015.

ARGUMENT

The intermediate appellate court erred in reversing the PCR Judge in holding counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the admission of Adams' statement to police because it was improper character evidence.

Certiorari is warranted because the intermediate appellate court committed certain error in reversing the PCR Judge and holding that Adams met his burden to prove counsel's performance was deficient and ineffective in failing to object to Adams' admissible "turtle comment" statement. Even if the statement was inadmissible to support the intermediate appellate court's conclusion that counsel's performance was deficient, ample probative evidence supports the PCR Judge's finding that Adams' failed to meet his burden to prove Strickland's prejudice prong. The intermediate appellate court's error is further magnified where counsel made the contemporaneous strategic decision to not object under the presumption that Adams' would testify on the defense's behalf and neutralize any inferential taint from the "turtle comment."

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard for review of a PCR evidentiary hearing is whether "any evidence of probative value" exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985).

EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

For an applicant to be granted post-conviction relief as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show both: (1) that his counsel failed to render reasonably

effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by his counsel's ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006).

The Strickland court noted:

A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. Because of the difficulties inherent in making the evaluation, a court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance.

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S. Ct. at 2065.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

At trial, Investigator Bledsoe testified to statements made by Adams in the non-custodial interview:

Solicitor: What did [Adams] say?

Bledsoe: [Adams] denied the allegations, but he made some odd statements to me that day.

Solicitor: What were those statements?

Bledsoe: [Adams] mentioned something about he talked frankly with his children -- his older children about sex... he told "AW" his older child -- his stepchild -- that "Your cooter belongs to your daddy, and if anybody wants to touch that or bother that, you need to tell them to ask me."

Solicitor: Had you disclosed to him prior to that time what the allegations were against him?

Bledsoe: Yes, sir, I did.

(App.p.67, lines 1-20). At the PCR hearing, counsel testified Adams' statement was admissible because it was a statement given by the accused that could be and was reasonably interpreted as an admission of guilt to the underlying offense. (App.pp.77-8;

p.85). Counsel noted the statement was harmful but was open to a neutral and positive meaning. (App.p.86). Counsel testified, “[the statement] would indicate to me it was more of a father saying, “Don’t let anyone touch you inappropriately” (App.p.336, lines 23-5).

Furthermore, counsel testified to making the tactical decision to “counterpunch” the State’s testimony on Adams’ statement concerning admissions of inculpatory conduct towards the victim by calling Adams’ to testify to the defense’s alternative interpretation. (App.p.336). Counsel reasoned Adams was the witness to address the defense’s interpretation (App.p.336). Counsel testified that as a result of his pre-trial consultations with Adams, they had discussed and had agreed upon the tactical decision to call Adams to testify in the defense’s case-in-chief. (App.pp.334-35). Adams changed his mind and communicated his desire to not take the stand during the defense’s case-in-chief. Counsel noted “matter of fact, I was somewhat surprised that he made the decision not to testify.” (App.p.334, ln. 19-21).

In denying and dismissing Adams’ PCR Action, the PCR Judge found Adams failed to meet his burden to prove Strickland’s deficiency prong on two grounds. First, the PCR Judge rejected Adams’ notion that his statement that “your cooter belongs to your daddy” was inadmissible and did not warrant an objection. Second, and in the alternative, the PCR Judge found counsel’s testimony concerning the tactical decision to not object here constituted valid trial strategy even if the statement had been inadmissible. (App.p.456).

The PCR Judge also found Adams failed to meet his burden to prove Strickland’s

prejudice prong. The PCR Judge announced, “there has been no showing by [Adams] that the outcome of his trial would have been different if this objection had been made.” (App.p.457).

A.

The intermediate appellate court erred in reversing the PCR Judge in finding Adams met his burden of proving counsel’s performance was deficient. Adams’ statement was admissible.

“Generally, only those parts of a confession or statement made to police which are relevant and material to the crime charged should be received into evidence.” State v. Nelson, 331 S.C. 1, 16, 501 S.E.2d 716, 723 (1998). “Under Rule 401, SCRE, evidence is relevant if it has a direct bearing upon and tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy” State v. Cheeseboro, 346 S.C. 526, 548, 552 S.E.2d 300, 311 (2001). “Unlike a prior bad act, which always raises the risk of an improper inference based on character, a statement is an actual communication of thought which may or may not give rise to an impermissible inference, depending upon what is said and circumstances under which it is said.” State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 629, 496 S.E.2d 424, 428 (1998).

In State v. Cheeseboro, the court held a letter drafted by the defendant was relevant because it established the defendant’s need for money as a motive for murder. Cheeseboro, 346 S.C. at 548, 552 S.E.2d at 311. In State v. Cutro, the court held the memorabilia from the deceased victim’s seized from the defendant was relevant to the State’s theory to show defendant’s motive to gain attention. State v. Cutro, 365 S.C. 366,

618 S.E.2d 890 (2005).

The statement in the present case concerned Adams' conduct towards the child victim on a matter incredibly relevant to the State's case against him: the child victim's sexuality. Adams' contention that the statement was not relevant to the underlying charges is patently absurd. A reasonable facial interpretation shows Adams' comment was material to the evidence and testimony presented at trial. Certainly, a proclamation of dominion and control to an eleven-year old child victim regarding her sexual autonomy implied an ability to stifle disclosure. Furthermore, the child victim testified she feared retribution for non-compliance, let alone reporting the abuse to her mother, an older sibling, or an adult at school. (App.p.41).

The solicitor argued in closing that the Adams' statements evidenced a zealous motive to safeguard dominion and control over the child victim's sexual autonomy necessary for exploitation. The solicitor summarized the State's case against Adams as a "betrayal of [child victim]'s trust." (App.pp.138-42; p.142, ln 9-10). Alternatively, the defense's case made Adams' character an issue in the case from opening statement on and opened the door to the admissibility of the statement on other grounds. Thus, the PCR Judge made the correct finding that an objection here lacked merit for numerous reasons.

Second, the probative value of the statement was not substantially outweighed by the prospect of unfair prejudice. Here, the PCR Judge correctly found "the cooter comment" was presented in its entirety and was not presented out of context. The State submits context shows the statement was not prejudicial. A general desire for a parent to

safeguard a child's virtue certainly does not insinuate criminal behavior.¹ See State v. Cutro, 365 S.C. 366, 618 S.E.2d 890 (2005) ("collecting memorabilia of a deceased child, while perhaps uncommon, is not behavior that itself indicates a bad character."). Therefore, the State requests this Court grant certiorari to reverse the intermediate appellate court and affirm the PCR Judge's finding that Adams' failed to meet his burden to prove counsel rendered deficient performance that resulted in prejudice.

B.

The intermediate appellate court erred in reversing the PCR Judge's factual finding that Adams' failed to meet his burden on Strickland's prejudice prong where there is ample probative evidence to support the PCR Judge's factual finding.

The intermediate appellate court held "[f]inally, we find there was not overwhelming evidence of Adams' guilt; therefore the PCR Court erred in finding Adams failed to prove prejudice." On the relevant issue, the PCR Judge found that "Applicant has failed to show that he was prejudiced by counsel's alleged ineffectiveness." (App.p.456). The intermediate appellate court abused its discretion here when it departed from the standard of review on whether there is probative evidence to support the PCR Court's finding of fact. See Holland v. State, 322 S.C. 111, 470 S.E.2d 378 (1996) (the Court will not uphold the findings of the PCR court if no probative evidence supports those findings). Thus, the intermediate appellate court's holding constituted an improper

¹ The word "cooter" is a red herring. Any interchangeable synonym of a child's genitals would not change the analysis here. The State posits that the "turtle word" probably holds substantially less shock value in rural Edgefield County than it held to the intermediate appellate court. Simply, Petitioner cannot cry outrage about the "turtle word" when he chose the verbiage when being questioned about the offenses by law enforcement. See U.S. v. Pellerito, 878 F.2d 1535, 1543 (1st Cir. 1989) ("If counsel was ineffective in any sense, it was only because the client rendered him so, first by keeping Noriega in the dark, and then, by refusing to heed his advice. That is not the sort of "ineffectiveness" for which relief can be granted")

burden shift to the State. In the PCR forum, the applicant holds the burden to prove by a preponderance of evidence that his attorney's alleged error undermined the PCR court's confidence in the outcome of the trial. Jackson v. State, 355 S.C. 568, 570, 586 S.E.2d 562, 563 (2003).

Ample Probative evidence supports the PCR Judge's finding that Adams failed to meet this burden to prove Strickland's prejudice prong. The State's case hinged on the credibility of the minor victim's testimony. The Trial Judge made the following comment during sentencing: "As I sit here today, however, I completely agree with the verdict of the jury. I am convinced that these acts took place." See Cutro, 332 S.C. at 117, 504 S.E.2d at 332 ("The trial judge, not [the intermediate appellate court], is in the best position to be the arbiter of [the witness'] credibility"). Furthermore, counsel presented other evidence to show that Adams was a commendable and caring parent; creating a counter-inference that Adams' statement evidenced his concern over the chastity of his children. Albeit indirectly, counsel also elicited testimony that would have neutralized the "turtle comment's" potential taint on an Edgefield County jury. Therefore, the State requests this Court grant certiorari to reverse the intermediate appellate court and affirm the PCR Judge's finding that Adams' failed to meet his burden to prove counsel rendered deficient performance that resulted in prejudice.

C.

Last, the intermediate appellate court erred in holding that counsel's decision to not object to the admission of the "turtle comment" was outside the ambit of valid trial strategy.

Counsel made a sound tactical decision to not object to Adams' statement by eliciting testimony from Adams on the matter. Where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel. Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992). As counsel astutely articulated at the evidentiary hearing before the PCR Judge, the statement at issue held two objectively reasonable interpretations. Certainly, Adams was the appropriate witness to testify to his intent in making the statement to support his version that it showed he was apparently a good parent that cared deeply about the chastity of his children.

Arguendo, had the statement been inadmissible, counsel's strategy to not object in favor of "counterpunching" by calling Adams as a defense witness to explain his version of the context of the statement constituted valid trial strategy that bars an assignment of deficient performance. See Bullock v. Carver, 297 F.3d 1036 (10th Cir. 2002) (emphasis added) (counsel's failure to object to molest victim's statements and hearsay was not ineffectiveness where he believed the objection would be futile and where the statements served the interest of showing allegedly suggestive interview techniques).

The intermediate appellate court cites to Dawkins v. State² to support its holding on the propriety of counsel's strategy in not objecting: "[f]urther, we find trial counsel's explanation he did not object to the statement because he did not want to waive a red flag before the jury was not a reasonable trial strategy because the issue could have been litigated outside of the presence of the jury." Id. Yet, Dawkins reiterates this Court's long held pronouncement that a defense attorney's decision to not object to inadmissible evidence out of fear of drawing further attention to inadmissible evidence, standing alone,

² Dawkins v. State, 346 S.C. 151, 157, 551 S.E.2d 260, 263 (2001).

will not provide safe harbor from an assignment of deficient performance under Strickland. Id. The State posits that the intermediate appellate court's holding here is contrary to the controlling case, Rhodes v. State, 349 S.C. 25, 33, 561 S.E.2d 606, 610 (2002), where this Court held that the attorney's decision to not object to inadmissible evidence in favor of attacking and utilizing its admission in the defense's presentation of its case constituted a valid trial strategy and effective assistance of counsel.

[Rhodes' attorney] stated at the PCR hearing he purposely sought to convert this evidence to petitioner's advantage by portraying it as rumor. He brought this out in his cross-examination of Thompson and based much of his closing argument on the idea that the victims' identifications stemmed purely from rumor and innuendo.

Id. (emphasis added). In the present case, counsel made a similar decision to forgo an objection to admissibility in order to attack and convert the State's evidence as a sword for the defense's case.

What is lost in translation to the intermediate appellate court was that counsel's valid trial strategy was ultimately unrealized because of Adams' unforeseen decision to not testify. The long standing principle has governed PCR jurisprudence that a defense attorney does not hold a duty of clairvoyance to anticipate either changes of law or facts during challenged representation. Thornes v. State, 310 S.C. 306, 426 S.E.2d 764 (1993). Strickland explicitly states "a court deciding an actual ineffectiveness claim must judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690 (emphasis added); Phoenix v. Matesanz, 233 F.3d 77, 84 (1st Cir. 2000) (strategic choices are given greater latitude during trial when time is short.).

After numerous pre-trial consultations, strategy sessions, and countless hours of preparation, Adams made an impromptu decision to not testify. Adams has only himself to blame on this matter. Therefore, the State requests this Court grant certiorari to reverse the intermediate appellate court and affirm the PCR Judge's finding that counsel's decision to not object here constituted valid trial strategy here.

Accordingly, the intermediate appellate court erred in concluding Adams met his burden of proving counsel was either deficient or ineffective in failing to object to Adams' admissible statement. Even if the "turtle comment" was inadmissible, the test on the bloody pieces of glass from the crime scene. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) ("The burden of proof is on the applicant to prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence.").

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should grant the Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals.