THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

**RECEIVED**

AUG 19 2015

**S.C. Supreme Court**

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals  
Appeal from Edgefield County  
Court of Common Pleas  
William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge

---

Opinion No. 2015-UP-174 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 1, 2015)

---

Appellate Case No. 2015-001342

---

TOMMY S. ADAMS, #311901 ..... Respondent,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ..... Petitioner.

---

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

Teresa L. Norris  
Blume Norris & Franklin-Best, LLC  
900 Elmwood Avenue, Suite 200  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 765-1044  
Counsel for Respondent.

**

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

All right, ladies and gentlemen, let me clear a couple a things up before we move forward. I supposed that it is somewhat obvious that there may be people who on different sets of facts and other situations have made accusations against people that are not people [sic] and that some people have made accusations against other people that are true.

It will be your job in this case to determine what it is that the State has proven beyond a reasonable doubt. That's your job to determine that on the facts of this case.

Now, with regard to the last statement by the witness, I am going to instruct you to disregard anything that you may have heard this witness say regarding whether or not she believes or does not believe any other witness. That is a matter for you. It is not for a witness to tell you who they believe. It is for you to decide who you believe.

App. 77-78.

Counsel's conduct was deficient and prejudicial in eliciting Bledsoe's bolstering testimony and in failing to timely move for a mistrial on this basis. While the PCR court found that counsel “could not know how the Investigating Officer was going to respond to his question,” App. 457, this is clearly not supported by the record as the trial court

determined that “her answer . . . flows naturally from the line of questioning that you were just following,” App. 72. Likewise, this Court made clear in *White* that cross-examination of a witness “as to whether she had cases in which she did not believe the alleged victim,” 361 S.C. at 415-16, 605 S.E.2d at 544, opens the door to this bolstering testimony. Clearly, cross-examination about whether the witness is merely assuming the truth of the allegations opens this same door.

Moreover, the issue is not simply that counsel elicited the testimony, but that counsel did not seek a mistrial at the appropriate time. Counsel later recognized the deficiency in his failure to move for mistrial because he asserted this ground as a basis for granting a new trial in his post-trial motions. App. 179.

While the jury did receive a curative instruction, it was inadequate to cure the error.

An instruction to disregard incompetent evidence usually is deemed to have cured any error in its admission *unless on the facts of the particular case it is probable that, notwithstanding such instruction, the accused was prejudiced.*

*State v. Dempsey*, 340 S.C. 565, 532 S.E.2d 306 (Ct. App. 2000) (citing *State v. Johnson*, 334 S.C. 78, 512 S.E.2d 795 (1999)) (emphasis added). “[O]n the facts of [this] particular case,” Adams was prejudiced by Bledsoe’s improper testimony and the curative instruction was inadequate to cure the error. The only proper evidence for the State was the testimony of AW. As addressed above, there was no valid purpose for the State to even present Bledsoe’s testimony, as Adams’ statements to her were not relevant and were improperly used as a character assassination by the State. Adding to that testimony that Bledsoe believed AW, it is unlikely that the jury could unring that bell and properly disregard this

testimony. Improper corroboration, in the context of a charge of criminal sexual conduct with a minor stepdaughter and the state's case is built almost solely on the testimony of the minor alleged victim, has a "devastating impact." *State v. Barrett*, 299 S.C. 485, 487, 386 S.E.2d 242, 243 (1989).

**C. Advising Adams not to testify after informing the jury that he would testify, or, alternatively, failing to properly advise Adams at all with respect to whether he should testify.**

Counsel provided ineffective assistance in essentially promising the jury in opening statements that Adams would testify and then failing to produce that testimony. Counsel asserted:

I am confident that you're going to hear two totally different stories, and you're going to have to sit in judgment. And there's not going to be any DNA. There's not going to be any videotapes. There's not going to be any of that.

There's going to be two people saying two different things.

App. 35. In PCR, counsel conceded that he "misstated" the case in opening and should have said the jury would hear two different "versions" rather than two different "people." App. 370. He also conceded that the jury could have understood his statements as a promise that Adams would testify. App. 371.

Counsel's conduct was both deficient and prejudicial as Adams did not testify. Adams testified in PCR that he did not do so because counsel advised him not to. His family members corroborated this testimony. Specifically, Adams testified that counsel had advised him prior to trial that he did not want him to testify. App. 321. Likewise, Adams, his ex-wife, and his three children from this prior marriage, all testified that counsel told Adams at

a recess that he would not call him to testify because he thought Adams would get upset and get “red” in the face. App. 286, 291, 295, 299-300, 321. Adams acknowledged, however, that counsel told him that the decision was Adams’ to make, but Adams followed counsel’s advice. App. 321.

Counsel, on the other hand, testified: “[I]t certainly was my intention and understanding that Mr. Adams was always going to testify in the case.” App. 334. *See also* App. 332. He expressed being “somewhat surprised that he made the decision not to testify, even though I felt that the State’s case was weak.” App. 334. Counsel acknowledged, however, that he would never respond to a client’s question when asked, “What should I do?” App. 338. Likewise, he has never advised a client that “you should not testify,” or “you should testify.” App. 351. “I never tell them, ‘I’m advising you to do this or that.’ . . . I don’t do that.” App. 352. “I don’t tell them my opinion . . .” App. 353. “I’m not going to tell any client that, . . . ‘In my opinion, you shouldn’t testify.’” App. 355. No exception is made, even if the client is intellectually disabled or has a low IQ. App. 354.

Counsel’s conduct was deficient. Counsel’s testimony that he did not advise Adams that he should not testify is simply not credible in light of the contradictory testimony by numerous witnesses. Nonetheless, the PCR court found counsel’s testimony “to be credible” and rejected Adams’ testimony. App. 458.

Assuming that counsel’s testimony on this point was credible and believable, counsel’s conduct was still deficient by his own admission in that counsel did not advise Adams whether he should or should not testify. Likewise, counsel did not assert any trial

strategy for failing to advise Adams. He simply does not advise his clients at all on this front.

If there's any part, I think, of a criminal trial where a lawyer brings a person to the edge of the diving board and then turns around and steps back, it's at that moment. We don't push them in the water and we don't hold them back. We've trained them, hopefully, in trial preparation of how to testify. We've covered what they intend to testify about. We've prepared them. But we've got to let them fly or not fly on their own. To do one or the other, to push them or hold them back, I think a lawyer oversteps his bounds.

App. 354.

Counsel's conduct was deficient by his own admission. Advising the defendant concerning the law and providing the benefit of counsel's training, education, and experience is the essence of what attorneys do in providing the "assistance of counsel." The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment entitlements to the effective assistance of counsel is "a realistic recognition of the obvious truth that the average defendant does not have the professional legal skill to protect himself when brought before a tribunal with power to take his life or liberty, wherein the prosecution is represented by experienced and learned counsel." *Johnson v. Zerbst*, 304 U.S. 458, 462-463 (1938). Failure to advise the defendant or provide any opinion at all "renders meaningless defense counsel's vital function as an adviser." *Alvord v. Wainwright*, 469 U.S. 956, 960 (1984) (Marshall, J., with whom Brennan, J., joined, dissenting). The American Bar Association, Standards of Criminal Justice, which are "guides to determining what is reasonable," *Strickland*, 466 U.S. 688, provide:

After informing himself or herself fully on the facts and the law, the lawyer should advise the accused with complete candor concerning all aspects of the case, including a candid estimate of the probable outcome.

Standard 4-5.1(a). Likewise, the South Carolina Rules of Professional Responsibility provide:

In representing a client, a lawyer shall exercise independent professional judgment and render candid advice. In rendering advice, a lawyer may refer not only to law but to other considerations such as moral, economic, social and political factors, that may be relevant to the client's situation.

Rule 2.1, RPC, Rule 407, SCACR. “[I]f counsel believes that it would be unwise for the defendant to testify, counsel may, and indeed should, advise the client in the strongest possible terms not to testify.” *United States v. Teague*, 953 F.2d 1525, 1535 (11th Cir. 1992). Conversely, where counsel believes the defendant should testify, counsel should “advise the client in the strongest possible terms” to do so, because “[a] client is entitled to straightforward advice expressing the lawyer’s honest assessment.” Comment to Rule 2.1, RPC, Rule 407, SCACR. *See, e.g., Carter v. Lee*, 283 F.3d 240, 251 (4th Cir. 2002) (Counsel were not ineffective in advising the defendant that he should testify in his capital trial) (citing *Teague*).<sup>9</sup>

Adams was prejudiced by counsel’s deficient conduct in failing to ensure Adams would testify in this case. First, as trial counsel conceded, there was no real downside to

---

<sup>9</sup>This situation is analogous to situations where the defendant receives a plea offer from the state. It is not enough for counsel simply to inform the client of the offer. Counsel must advise the defendant with counsel’s opinion on whether the offer should be accepted or rejected. *See, e.g., Boria v. Keane*, 99 F.3d 492, 495 (2nd Cir. 1996) (Counsel ineffective in drug case for failing to advise client concerning the advisability of accepting the state’s plea bargain offer even though counsel believed that “his client’s decision to reject the plea bargain was suicidal”). Counsel’s failure to offer his opinions to his client is “extremely troubling,” *Young v. Zon*, 827 F. Supp. 2d 144, 158 (W.D.N.Y. 2011), because “the failure to give *any* advice [is] entirely contrary to the minimum professional norms of practice,” *id.* at 162 (emphasis in original). *See also Hicks v. Howton*, 675 F. Supp. 2d 1050 (D. Ore. 2009).

Adams doing so. Counsel believed that Adams was innocent, App. 326, and recognized that the state's case rested entirely on AW's "assertion that he did it with nothing to back that up or support it," App. 328. Second, Adams' testimony included his specific denial of the allegations. App. 315. Third, Adams' testimony included his explanation of the "cooter" comment. App. 317. Consistent with the testimony of his sons, Adams testified that the comment was made in the context of sex education or "the birds-and-bees talk" with his sons and AW's mother present. App. 317. "I didn't mean any other thing than they had my protection to keep their virginity." App. 318. He informed Bledsoe of this because she "asked me if my kids knew about sex." App. 316.

Likewise, in the context of counsel's promise to the jury in opening that Adams would testify, the prejudice from the failure to testify is heightened. Indeed, counsel highlighted the failure in closing argument by asserting that "[t]his is what we sometimes call a he said-she said type of case" without corroborating DNA or medical evidence. Adams was prejudiced because the jury could only infer from counsel's failure to deliver Adams' testimony that Adams had something to hide or that counsel did not believe he would be a credible witness. In other words, despite counsel's promise in opening that the jury would hear from "two people saying two different things," App. 35, in this "he said-she said" case, App. 121, only "she" testified. Thus, "he" never got his say and this was due to counsel's deficient and prejudicial conduct.

"[L]ittle is more damaging than to fail to produce important evidence that had been promised in an opening." *Anderson v. Butler*, 858 F.2d 16, 17 (1st Cir.1988). *See, e.g., Ouber v. Guarino*, 293 F.3d 19 (1st Cir. 2002) (counsel ineffective in drug trafficking case

for promising the jury four times in the opening to call the defendant as a witness, but then failing to keep those promises); *English v. Romanowski*, 602 F.3d 714 (6th Cir. 2010) (counsel ineffective in assault with intent to commit murder case for failing to adequately investigate prior to informing the jury in opening statements that the defendant's girlfriend would be called as a witness to corroborate the claim of self-defense); *U.S. ex rel. Hampton v. Leibach*, 347 F.3d 219 (7th Cir. 2003) (counsel ineffective in sexual assault and robbery case for failing to investigate and interview exculpatory eyewitnesses and for making promises in his opening statement to the jury that he did not keep).

**D. Failure to object, request that the jurors and bailiffs be questioned, and failure to request that the jurors be returned to court for proper instructions following improper communications between jurors and the bailiffs.**

Under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments, a defendant in a criminal trial is guaranteed a fair trial by an impartial jury. In order to fully safeguard this protection, it is required that the jury render its verdict free from outside influences of whatever kind and nature. *State v. Johnson*, 302 S.C. 243, 250, 395 S.E.2d 167, 170 (1990). Not every conversation between a juror and a bailiff will prejudice the defendant, but when there has been such a communication, "a new trial must be granted unless it clearly appears that the subject matter of the communication was harmless and could not have affected the verdict." *State v. Cameron*, 311 S.C. 204, 208, 428 S.E.2d 10, 12 (Ct. App. 1993) (quoting *Holmes v. United States*, 284 F.2d 716, 718 (4th Cir. 1960)).

In this case, the following exchange occurred on the record after approximately one and a half hours of deliberation, App. 360-61:

THE COURT: Ma'am, come up front, please. You're Ms. Watson?

MS. WATSON: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: All right, raise your right hand.

(The witness was sworn.)

THE COURT: Okay. Now, something happened back there with the jury asking you a question. Is that what happened?

MS. WATSON: Well, I was standing with the other Bailiff back there, and they came out and asked if it had to be a hundred percent, and she told them yes.

THE COURT: Okay. The other Bailiff, Ms. Scurry, told them yes?

MS. WATSON: We told them yes, uh-huh.

THE COURT: All right. And that was all that was said?

MS. WATSON: That's all.

THE COURT: Okay. And I'll hear from counsel. Anything you want to say?

App. 153-54. Defense counsel responded only:

Judge, I think Ms. Scurry said what the law is. Of course, it more properly should have been Your Honor. But I'm sure nothing was done intentionally. But we've got no position for that.

App. 154. No corrective action was taken. App. 154-55.

Counsel's conduct was deficient. If inquiry had been made, the court would have learned that the jury wanted to know if it had to be a unanimous vote, which is indicative that the jury was hung. Specifically, the jury foreperson testified in the PCR hearing that she was asking whether all twelve had to be unanimous. App. 306. Indeed, it was even reported in the media that "[t]he jury was deadlocked, we are told, with a nine guilty to three innocent voting" apparently when the question was asked of the bailiffs. App. 258.

If trial counsel had requested proper inquiry and additional instruction following the disclosure that the jury was hung, the jurors would have been provided a proper *Allen*<sup>10</sup> charge instruction informing jurors that they should “approach the evidence with an open mind and consider the opinions of their fellow jurors,” in an attempt to reach a verdict, *State v. Williams*, 386 S.C. 503, 510, 690 S.E.2d 62, 65 (2010), but that they should not give up an honestly held opinion and change their mind “if it would do violence to [their] conscience,” *Green v. State*, 351 S.C. 184, 195, 569 S.E.2d 318, 323-324 (2002). Thus, there is a distinction between the short answer the bailiff gave from the complete instructions the trial court would have given had the court made additional inquiry and properly instructed the jury. *Blake by Adams v. Spartanburg General Hosp.*, 307 S.C. 14, 17, 413 S.E.2d 816, 818 (1992).

Adams was prejudiced by counsel’s deficient conduct. The jury was hung in this case that hinged solely on the credibility of the minor alleged victim, who testified in an “utterly emotionless, blank” fashion, App. 340, and whose testimony was completely uncorroborated by any other proper evidence. While the bailiff was correct that it had to be “a hundred percent” or “unanimous,” “the bailiff’s remarks were not offset by a statement that each juror should not surrender his conscientious convictions merely to reach an agreement.” *Blake*, 307 S.C. at 17, 413 S.E.2d at 818. In these circumstances, there is no assurance that “the communication was harmless and could not have affected the verdict.” *Cameron*, 311 S.C. at 208, 428 S.E.2d at 12. In other words, there is “reason to suppose outside influences” entered into deliberations and impacted the verdict. *Blake*, 307 S.C. at 17, 413 S.E.2d at

---

<sup>10</sup>*Allen v. United States*, 164 U.S. 492 (1896).